THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-000973

---

Dr. Gregg Battersby, Appellant,

v.

Sheriff John Skipper, in his official capacity, Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Dr. Gregg Battersby  
7800 Hwy. 81 South  
Starr, South Carolina 29684  
(864) 570-0077  
Pro se, Appellant

Atty. Charles Turner  
872 S. Pleasantburg Dr.  
Greenville, South Carolina 29607  
(864) 672-3711  
Attorney for Respondent

**RECEIVED**

JAN 04 2017

**SC Court of Appeals**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- 1) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN OPINING THAT APPELLANT WAS ARRESTED WITH PROBABLE CAUSE?
- 2) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN OPINING THAT RESPONDENT'S ACTS DID NOT CONSTITUTE AN ABUSE OF PROCESS?
- 3) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN OPINING THAT THE RESPONDENT HAS IMMUNITY UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA TORT CLAIMS ACT?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant filed this Complaint against Respondent under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act on May 1, 2015. The causes of action are malicious prosecution, false arrest/imprisonment, and abuse of process. Respondent arrested Appellant without probable cause, withheld exculpatory evidence, and tampered with official documents. Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. On January 25, 2016, a hearing was held on the motion. The judge stated that he hadn't read Appellant's 28 page brief in opposition to the summary judgment. (R. p. 171, lines, 16-18). The hearing roster showed the judge having hearings the remainder of the day and until 11:00 A.M. the following day. On January 26, 2016, the judge granted Respondent's motion. Appellant feels his position was not given any consideration by the judge. A formal Order Granting Defendant's Motion For Summary Judgment was filed on April 8, 2016. Appellant had to go to the clerk of court and obtain a copy of the formal order on April 19, 2016. Appellant served this appeal on Respondent on May 5, 2016.

## FACTS

On or about August 2, 2013, Respondent arrested Appellant without probable cause and spent 12 hours in jail. The unlawful arrest was based on uncorroborated allegations by two patients, Jan Morton and Carrie Neal. Appellant is a chiropractor operating out of part of his private residence. The case numbers associated with this arrest are 2013A0410900191 and 2013A0410100898. Respondent alleged that the Appellant had exposed himself to the patients at his place of business. Morton filed an incident report on July 8, 2013. This was five weeks after the alleged incident occurring on June 2, 2013. In the supplemental to the incident report, Morton alleged the Appellant answered the door wearing only a "men's robe" and during her treatment, he "dropped his robe to the floor" and was completely nude with a "fully erect penis." Morton claimed that the Appellant did not, "attempt any sexual contact." Ten days later, on July 18, 2013, Detectives Stan Ashley and Michelle Hendrix obtained a recorded statement from Morton. The audio statement of Morton alleged Appellant "came to the door. He had a towel on." Detective Ashley responded "He had a towel on?"

Page 57:

18 didn't come to the door. He came to the door.

19 He had a towel on.

20 MR. ASHLEY: He had a towel on?

This showed Ashley was questioning the difference with the incident report. Morton went on to say "I'm thinking this man's rubbing his stuff on me." Morton even changed the number of treatment tables she was on during the visit. She stated in her incident report that she was on 2 treatment tables and in the audio statement she was on 3 treatment tables. Morton's two stories

read like two separate events. Detective Hendrix told Morton to get another patient to file an incident report, "Encourage her that the two (2) together would be strong." Detective Ashley also encouraged Morton to get another patient to file by saying, "stronger than just one." Detective Ashley told Morton, "we'll see about going after his license".

Page 66:

22 MS. HENDRICKS: Encourage her that the two together  
23 would be strong.

24 MR. ASHLEY: Stronger than just one. Because without  
25 I might could something with this, and we'll  
I see about going after his license.

Detectives Ashley and Hendrix never contacted Appellant to get his statement even though they indicated in the audio statement that they were going to do it. On July 29, 2013, Respondent sought an arrest warrant against Appellant.

On the insistence of Detectives, Ashley and Hendrix, Morton got her good friend Carrie Neal to file a criminal complaint against Appellant. She made similar assertions as Morton. Neal had motive in making the false allegations because Appellant treated her for an automobile accident and owed Appellant \$12,100.00 for her care. She spoke to her lawyer, Atty. Tom Dunaway, who was handling her personal injury claim and told him her concocted story. He told her that Appellant's outstanding bill would not be paid. As a result, she would be able to keep that money. On July 25, 2013, Neal went to Detectives, Ashley and Hendrix, and filed the criminal complaint, 8 weeks after the alleged incident. An audio statement was taken at that time. In the statement, Neal claimed that on May, 23, 2013 Appellant indecently exposed himself to her. This was weeks after Appellant had discharged her from his care on May 8, 2013. She claimed that the incident occurred in the laundry room of Appellant's residence. Neal also

made no mention of seeing Appellant's genitalia. In later testimony, *Neal specifically denied seeing Appellant's genitalia.*

Page 63:

11 Q. Could you tell -- forgive me for asking  
12 the question, but could you see his penis at any  
13 point?  
14 A. No. No.

Detective Ashley wrote in his incident report that the incident occurred in Appellant's "office/therapy area" and that Appellant exposed his genitalia to her. This was done in order to meet the elements of the charge of indecent exposure.

SC Code Ann. § 16-15-130 (A)(1), (2013): It is unlawful for a person to willfully, maliciously, and *indecently expose his person in a public place*, on property of others, or to the view of any person on a street or highway.

Detectives could not meet the elements of the crime if they used the story relayed by Neal so they changed her story to fit the elements. Detectives needed Neal to file charges in order to arrest Appellant so they falsified her incident report. Detective Ashley filed no supplemental report or made any reference to the existence of Neal's audio statement in the incident report effectively hiding its existence from everyone until March 26, 2014. Ashley filed the supplemental report after he left the sheriff's office on March 6, 2014 for employment at the Anderson County Fire Department. Ashley was no longer employed by the sheriff's office yet he somehow gained access to the records room. Ashley wanted to cover-up his withholding the audio tapes from the solicitor. Detective Ashley was so sloppy in creating Neal's supplemental report that he mixed in the facts that Morton had alleged. When Neal told Detective Ashley that her lawyer was not going to pay Appellant's outstanding bill, he responded, "good, hurt him".

Detective Ashley's judgment was clouded for some unknown reason.

In the federal court case filed against Detective Ashley and Hendrix, those defendants admitted that the alleged incidents occurred in Appellant's home. Respondent also admitted that the alleged incidents happened in Appellant's home in their Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment. Appellant's home is not a public place under South Carolina law.

On August 22, 2013, Appellant's counsel received copies of the incident reports and supplemental reports from the Anderson County Sheriff's Office (ACSO). The last entry on the supplemental report for Morton was July 9, 2013. No reference was made of the audio statement being taken from Morton on July 18, 2013. This information would have been denied to the magistrate in obtaining the arrest warrant. In January of 2014, Appellant received discovery from the Solicitor's Office. Morton's supplemental report contained the missing entries after the July 9, 2013 entry that weren't posted on the supplemental report received on August 22, 2013. Detectives created an entirely new supplemental report. This was evidenced by spelling errors in the July 9, 2013 entry that weren't there in the January document. At some point in time, Detectives created an entirely new supplemental report with the missing information so as to make it not look suspicious. Detectives were tampering with official documents. This information was also withheld from the magistrate at the preliminary hearing.

On August 30, 2013, the preliminary hearing was held. Detective Ashley testified. He did not produce the audio statements for the magistrate to hear the conflicting stories. After the hearing, Sarah Drawdy, Appellant's criminal attorney, asked Detective Ashley if there were any audio statements. He told her there were no audio statements from Neal and Morton. This was an intentional act to deny Appellant the ability to defend himself against the false allegations.

Appellant made multiple requests for the Sheriff's Office and the Solicitor's Office to produce the audio recording. The Solicitor's Office sent Detective Ashley emails on August 16, 2013, September 10, 2013, January 3, 2014, and February 27, 2014 requesting a copy of the case files. Detective Ashley refused to provide the requested case files. When the detectives eventually gave the case file of Morton to the Solicitor's Office it didn't contain the audio statement. On February 10, 2014, Appellant was told by the Solicitor's Office that there was no audio statement in the case file provided by the detectives. Appellant's counsel filed a Motion to Compel the production of the audio statements on February 28, 2014. It wasn't until March 21, 2014 that the Solicitor's Office received the audio statement of Morton. The Sheriff's Office still hadn't given the case file with audio statement for Neal to the Solicitor's Office. The only reason the detectives turned over the audio statements was that the criminal charges would be dismissed if they weren't provided. Appellant was provided a copy of the audio statements. Upon listening to the audio statements, it was obvious there were glaring discrepancies with the incident reports. Appellant contacted Assistant Solicitor Reeves to have her listen to the audio statements. Shortly thereafter, the Solicitor's Office dismissed the criminal charges against the Appellant. The dismissal was on April 24, 2014. Solicitor Chrissy Adams indicated that the reason the charges were dismissed was that there were "substantial issues with the facts" as relayed by Neal and Morton. The only facts in the possession of the detectives and the solicitor were the incident reports and the audio statements. Those "substantial issues" were only discovered when the detectives turned over the audio statements to the Solicitor's Office. No evidence was ever obtained by the detectives to corroborate Morton and Neal's stories. Solicitor Adam's never would have gone to the Grand Jury if she had the exculpatory audio statements.

On August 1, 2014, Deputy Marter gave a deposition. Appellant showed Deputy Marter the transcript of Morton's audio statement. Appellant showed Deputy Marter that Morton had originally claimed the Appellant had been wearing a "men's robe" and the transcript said he had been wearing a towel.

Marter testimony Page 12:

1 A If this was a deposition that she gave,  
2 and this is my report that she gave at the time,  
3 that's definitely a contradiction because she told  
4 me that he had a robe on when he come to the door.  
5 And that states that he had a towel on,  
6 so that is different.

Marter testimony Page 10:

5 Q So based on your responsibilities as a  
6 deputy, this page 3 is what she told you.  
7 A Yes, yes. This is, for the most part,  
8 exactly what she told me went on.

Deputy Marter wrote in the incident report what Morton told him. She told him that Appellant was wearing a men's robe and denied any sexual contact.

***Deputy Marter went on to testify on Page 14 that citing the contradictory statements by Morton there was no probable cause.***

2 Q If the only evidence -- if that's the  
3 word you used -- is the statement of the victim, if  
4 a victim has two contradictory statements, do you  
5 have probable cause?  
6 MR. MATTHEWS: Object to the form.  
7 THE WITNESS: Not in my opinion, no. You  
8 don't because you need -- you're going to have  
9 to have a little more than just a belief  
10 that's going on.  
11 You have to have some substantial proof  
12 that you believe that person committed the

13 crime.

Deputy Marter testified that the only evidence in the case file against Appellant was the incident report and the follow-up investigation showing Detectives, Ashley and Hendrix, took an audio statement from Morton. Ashley testified that the only evidence against Appellant were Morton's audio statements.

Ashley testimony Page 46:

8 Q So other than what they told you, do you  
9 have anything else?

10 A Uh-uh.

11 Q That would be no?

12 A No. Excuse me.

No other corroborating evidence was in Morton's case file. Detectives ignored discrepancies in the alleged victim's statements used in obtaining the arrest warrants. Detective Ashley went to the magistrates with just the incident report and supplemental report minus any reference to the audio statements being taken. Detective Ashley withheld the audio statement from the magistrate. Detective Ashley did this knowing he couldn't get arrest warrants with the contradictory statements. The solicitor made multiple requests for the entire case file in the months after Appellant's arrest. Detectives ignored the requests. Detectives withheld the exculpatory audio statement from the magistrate, solicitor and Appellant. Detectives lacked probable cause to obtain the arrest warrant. Detectives acted with malice.

At the hearing before the South Carolina Board of Chiropractic Examiners (Board) on October 30, 2013, Appellant's counsel stated that there was probable cause to arrest Appellant on the incident report of each woman. Appellant had not received the conflicting audio tapes until March of 2014. Appellant had no idea that there were conflicting statements made by Morton

and Neal, in addition to the fabrication of Neal's incident report. If the audio tapes had been timely turned over to Appellant in his initial discovery request in August of 2013, Appellant's counsel never would have made such a statement. This statement was made without the full knowledge of the facts that were in the possession of Respondent before the arrest warrants were sought. This is the same reason the solicitor sought indictments and the magistrate signed the arrest warrants. Deputy Marter, intake officer for Morton's incident report, found that there was no probable cause with Morton's conflicting statements. Everyone lacked all the evidence in the possession of the Respondent. Detective Ashley admitted in testimony that there was no evidence to corroborate the allegations of Neal and Morton.

The Board held an evidentiary hearing on July 28, 2015. After hearing the evidence they dismissed Neal and Morton's allegations *with prejudice*. The Board uses a preponderance of evidence standard in making its decision. This means that the Board felt that the allegations did not prove to be at least 51% believable. This is not much higher than the probable cause bar.

In Appellant's suit against Allstate and Attorney Kirk Moorhead, Appellant was establishing a cause of action for the conspiracy to commit fraud by Attorney Moorhead and Morton by filing the incident report on July 8, 2013. It had nothing to do with Respondent's involvement with Neal. Even if this Court finds judicial estoppel, it only pertains to the causes of action involving Morton. The causes of action involving Neal are not affected. The entire case cannot be dismissed on these grounds. Appellant was showing the intent by those defendants to deceive the ACSO into arresting Appellant by filing the incident report on July 8, 2013. Respondent took Appellant's pleading out of context. Morton and Moorhead intended the allegations to be believed by the ACSO thus establishing an element of the cause of action.

Appellant's pleading was in regards to the filing of the initial incident report and not the subsequent audio statement given by Morton. Respondent had every right to believe Morton's first statement. Respondent, however, should not have believed her after her second statement. Appellant has withdrawn that pleading. It was up to the detectives to use their professional abilities to recognize Moorhead and Morton's deception when Morton made the conflicting statement on July 18, 2013. Respondent failed to do so and went even further by withholding evidence and falsifying official documents. The motivation was to take down a doctor. Equal consideration must be given to the testimony of Deputy Marter, intake officer for Morton's incident report, who found that there was no probable cause with Morton's conflicting statements. No other evidence was ever discovered to prove Morton's allegations. This supports Appellant's claim that there are genuine issues of material fact remaining.

**THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OPINING THAT PROBABLE CAUSE EXISTED TO ARREST APPELLANT ON THE ALLEGATIONS OF NEAL AND MORTON.**

The circuit court should have left the determination of whether probable cause existed up to the jury. "In South Carolina, the issue of probable cause is a question of fact and ordinarily one for the jury. Jones, 301 S.C. at 65, 389 S.E.2d at 663. Accordingly, because the existence or non-existence of probable cause is a question of fact material to the lawfulness of Wortman's arrest, we hold that it was improper for the trial judge to grant summary judgment." See Wortman v. Spartanburg, 310 S.C. 1, 425 S.E.2d 18 (S.C., 1992).

Probable cause rests on whether the law enforcement officer had reason to believe that a suspect committed a crime. It does not rest on what Appellant may have said or whether the solicitor sought an indictment or a magistrate signed an arrest warrant. "In assessing the

existence of probable cause, courts examine the totality of the circumstances known to the officer at the time of the arrest. *United States v. Al-Talib*, 55 F.3d 923, 931 (4th Cir.1995). Probable cause exists when the facts and circumstances known to the officer "would warrant the belief of a prudent person that the arrestee had committed or was committing an offense." *United States v. Garcia*, 848 F.2d 58, 59-60 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 957, 109 S.Ct. 395, 102 L.Ed.2d 384 (1988)". See *Taylor v. Waters*, 81 F.3d 429 (4th Cir. 1996). The only evidence that Appellant committed a crime was two contradictory statements by Morton and a statement by Neal that did not satisfy the elements of indecent exposure, nothing else. Respondent has presented no one but Detective Ashley that felt that probable cause existed when all the evidence was produced. Appellant, however, presented statements from Deputy Marter, intake officer for Morton's incident report, and Solicitor Adams that said "there were substantial issues with the facts" relayed by Neal and Morton. These two people were involved in the cases.

In order for an arrest to be lawful there must be probable cause. The arresting officer must have more than a mere suspicion that a person committed a crime. Some evidence must support the officer's belief. It is obvious that the Detectives knew they did not have evidence that would support probable cause so they manufactured and withheld evidence. "Probable cause turns not on the individual's actual guilt or innocence, but on whether facts within the officer's knowledge would lead a reasonable person to believe the individual arrested was guilty of a crime. *State v. George*, 323 S.C. 496, 509, 476 S.E.2d 903, 911 (1996); *Deaton v. Leath*, 279 S.C. 82, 84, 302 S.E.2d 335, 336 (1983). "'Probable cause' is defined as a good faith belief that a person is guilty of a crime when this belief

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