THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

RECEIVED

In the Court of Appeals

JAN 06 2017

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-04-01034
Appellate Case No. 2016-000973

Dr. Gregg Battersby.....Appellant,

v.

Sheriff John Skipper, in his official capacityRespondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
SHERIFF JOHN SKIPPER

Charles F. Turner, Jr. (S.C. Bar No. 64996)

Willson Jones Carter & Baxley, P.A.

872 South Pleasantburg Drive

Greenville, South Carolina 29607

P: (864) 527-3280

F: (864) 235-6015

*Attorneys for Respondent Sheriff John
Skipper*

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED RESPONDENT SHERIFF JOHN SKIPPER'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO APPELLANT'S CLAIMS FOR MALICIOUS PROSECUTION AND FALSE ARREST/IMPRISONMENT AS NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXIST AS TO WHETHER THERE WAS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT PROBABLE CAUSE FOR APPELLANT'S ARREST FOR THE CRIME OF INDECENT EXPOSURE.

The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion by finding that probable cause existed for Appellant's arrest for the crime of indecent exposure.

A. Malicious Prosecution

To maintain an action for malicious prosecution, a plaintiff must establish: (1) the institution or continuation of original judicial proceedings; (2) by or at the instance of the defendant; (3) termination of such proceedings in [the] plaintiff's favor; (4) malice in instituting such proceedings; (5) lack of probable cause; and (6) resulting injury or damage.

An action for malicious prosecution fails if the plaintiff cannot prove each of the required elements by a preponderance of the evidence, including malice and lack of probable cause.

Malice is defined as the deliberate[,] intentional doing of an act without just cause or excuse. Malice does not necessarily mean a defendant acted out of spite, revenge, or with a malignant disposition, although such an attitude certainly may indicate malice. In an action for malicious prosecution, malice may be inferred from a lack of probable cause to institute the prosecution.

Probable cause in this context does not turn upon the plaintiff's guilt or innocence, but rather upon whether the facts within the prosecutor's knowledge would lead a reasonable person to believe the plaintiff was guilty of the crimes charged.

Where a plaintiff bases the claim on an opponent's institution of civil causes of action, probable cause exists if the facts and circumstances would lead a person of ordinary intelligence to believe that the plaintiff committed one or more of the acts alleged in the opponent's complaint. (internal citations omitted).

Pallares v. Seinar, 407 S.C. 359, 366-367, 756 S.E.2d 128, 131 (2014) (internal citations omitted).

B. False Imprisonment

The essence of the tort of false imprisonment consists of depriving a person of his liberty without lawful justification. To prevail on a claim for false imprisonment, the plaintiff must establish: (1) the defendant restrained the plaintiff, (2) the restraint was intentional, and (3) the restraint was unlawful.

The fundamental issue in determining the lawfulness of an arrest is whether there was probable cause to make the arrest. Probable cause is defined as a good faith belief that a person is guilty of a crime when this belief rests on such grounds as would induce an ordinarily prudent and cautious man, under the circumstances, to believe likewise.

McBride v. Sch. Dist. of Greenville County, 389 S.C. 546, 567, 698 S.E.2d 845, 856

(Ct.App. 2010) (internal citations omitted).

“The fundamental issue in determining the lawfulness of an arrest is whether there was probable cause to make the arrest. Probable cause is defined as a good faith belief that a person is guilty of a crime when this belief rests on such grounds as would induce an ordinarily prudent and cautious man, under the circumstances, to believe likewise.” *Horton v. City of Columbia*, 408 S.C. 27, 35, 757 S.E.2d 537, 541 (Ct.App. 2014) (internal citations omitted).

“South Carolina has long embraced the rule that a true bill of indictment is prima facie evidence of probable cause in an action for malicious prosecution.” *Kinton v. Mobile Home Indus., Inc.*, 274 S.C. 179, 182, 262 S.E.2d 727, 728 (1980).

“A facially valid warrant provides the probable cause necessary to comport with constitutional requirements.” *Anderson v. State AG of S.C.*, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 116083 at *8 (D.S.C. August 19, 2008).

More importantly, a witness statement serves as affirmative evidence of probable cause. *McBride v. Sch. Dist. of Greenville County*, 389 S.C. at 546. In *McBride*, a high school teacher sued the School District of Greenville County and her school principal arising out of the teacher’s termination from her employment, alleging claims for breach of contract, wrongful discharge,

defamation of character, abuse of process, false imprisonment, malicious prosecution, intentional infliction of emotional distress, negligence, negligence per se, and gross negligence.

Specifically, in regards to McBride's malicious prosecution claim, this Court emphasized:

In McBride[']s case, the grand jury's true bill of the indictment against her for contributing to the delinquency of a minor is prima facie evidence of probable cause as to that charge. Further, the information in several witness statements supports a finding that the sheriffs department had probable cause to pursue both the charge for contributing to the delinquency of a minor and the charge for enticing an enrolled child from attendance in school. Therefore, the circuit court properly directed a verdict for the District on McBride's malicious prosecution claim.

Id. at 567.

In its analysis of McBride's false imprisonment claim, this Court emphasized:

Here, McBride has failed to show a lack of probable cause for her arrest. The information in several witness statements supports a finding that the sheriffs department had probable cause to arrest McBride for the offenses of contributing to the delinquency of a minor and enticing an enrolled child from attendance in school.

Id. at 567-568.

When viewed as a whole, the evidence in this case yields but one conclusion as to whether or not there was probable cause for Appellant's arrest, and the conclusion is clear that there was overwhelming evidence of probable cause for Appellant's arrest. "[The question of whether probable cause exists . . . **may be decided as a matter of law when the evidence yields but one conclusion.**" *Guider v. Churpeyes, Inc.*, 370 S.C. 424, 431, 635 S.E.2d 562, 566 (Ct.App. 2006) (internal citations omitted); *See also Kreutner v. David*, 320 S.C. 283, 465 S.E.2d 88 (1995) (holding that when overwhelming evidence exists in support of a motion for summary judgment based upon the statute of limitations, the motion may be granted).

Respondent first determined that probable cause existed based on the direct statements of the victims, Carrie Neal and Jan Morton. As set forth above, a witness statement is sufficient to

establish probable cause. *McBride*, 389 S.C. at 567. Moreover, counsel for the Appellant at his administrative hearing expressly conceded that the statement of the victims constituted probable cause for his arrest. (R. p. 51 and R. p. 94, lines 15-21). Furthermore, in related litigation, Appellant specifically pled that the related defendants “had every right to rely on” the victim’s statement and “had no knowledge of its [alleged] falsity.” (R. p. 52 and R. p. 98). And, as recently as June 2014, even after the criminal action was *nolle prosequed*, Jan Morton and Carrie Neal both maintained, as they have all along, that Appellant exposed himself to them. (R. pp. 52-53; R. p. 108 [p. “95”], line 23 – R. p. 109 [p. “96”], line 9; R. p. 168, lines 15-25; and, R. p. 169, lines 2-17).

Most importantly, in his initial brief, Appellant concedes that his counsel admitted during his administrative hearing that “**there was probable cause to arrest [him] on the incident report of each woman.**” (Appellant’s Initial Brief p. 8). Additionally, as the Circuit Court noted, the existence of true bill indictments issued by the Anderson County Grand Jury also supports a finding of probable cause in this case as a matter of law. *Kinton*, 274 S.C. at 179. Thus, the facts and circumstances within Respondent’s knowledge were overwhelmingly sufficient to warrant a prudent person to believe that Appellant had committed a criminal offense.

As the Circuit Court also noted, Appellant’s prior conduct on two separate occasions, once in case number 2015-CP-04-00667 styled *Battersby v. Moorhead*, et al., in addition to Appellant’s October 13, 2013 hearing in front of the South Carolina Board of Chiropractic Examiners, at a minimum, supports a finding of judicial estoppel. (R. p. 8); *See also Cothran v. Brown*, 357 S.C. 210, 215, 592 S.E.2d 629, 631 (2004) (“Judicial estoppel is an equitable concept that prevents a litigant from asserting a position inconsistent with, or in conflict with, one the litigant has previously asserted in the same or related proceeding. The purpose of the doctrine is to ensure the

integrity of the judicial process, not to protect the parties from allegedly dishonest conduct by their adversary.”).

Furthermore, Respondent obtained facially valid arrest warrants and there is no evidence as suggested by Appellant to support the notion that Respondent or Respondent’s deputies, deliberately or with a reckless disregard for the truth, made material false statements in the affidavits or omitted material facts from the affidavits with the intent to make, or with reckless disregard of whether they thereby made, the affidavits misleading. *Anderson*, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 116083 at *8 (holding that “[a] facially valid warrant provides the probable cause necessary to comport with constitutional requirements.”).

The affidavit used in support of the Morton Arrest Warrant provided:

I further state that there is probable cause to believe that the defendant [Gregg Newton Battersby] did commit the crime [of indecent exposure] and that probable cause is based on the following facts:

That on June 1, 2013 in the county of Anderson, one Gregg Newton Battersby did willfully and maliciously expose his private parts to victim Jan G. Morton at 7800 Hwy. 81S, a public place or property within view of a street or highway.

(R. p. 57 and R. pp. 88-89). This is the exact information that was provided by Jan Morton when she first contacted the Anderson County Sheriff’s Office; it is the exact information that was provided in Ms. Morton’s recorded statement taken after her initial report, and it is the exact information that Ms. Morton provided in her deposition taken a year after the warrant was issued.

The affidavit used in support of the Neal Arrest Warrant Provided:

I further state that there is probable cause to believe that the defendant [Gregg Newton Battersby] did commit the crime [of indecent exposure] and that probable cause is based on the following facts:

That on May 23, 2013 in the county of Anderson, one Gregg Newton Battersby did willfully and maliciously expose his private parts to Carrie Neal at 7800 Hwy 81 S, a residence and chiropractic business open to the public.

(R. p. 57 and R. pp. 90-91). This is the same information that Ms. Neal provided when she first contacted the Anderson County Sheriff's Office, and it is the exact information she confirmed in her deposition on June 3, 2014, more than one year after the arrest warrant was issued. (R. p. 168, lines 15-25 and R. p. 169, lines 2-17). Thus, the only evidence that exists is that the officers included the material allegations of the victims, Jan Morton and Carrie Neal, in the affidavits and did not provide any misleading information or omit any material facts.

Appellant's conclusory allegations that Detectives Ashley and Hendrix intentionally withheld the audio statement of Ms. Morton is also totally without merit as Appellant's attorney had an opportunity to cross examine each detective at the preliminary hearing, and the court still determined that probable cause existed. "A conclusory statement as to the ultimate issue in a case is not sufficient to create a genuine issue of fact for purposes of resisting summary judgment." *Shupe v. Settle*, 315 S.C. 510, 516-517, 445 S.E.2d 651, 655 (Ct.App. 1994); "[U]ltimate or conclusory facts and conclusions of law, as well as statements made on ... information and belief, cannot be utilized on a summary judgment motion." *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 68, 580 S.E.2d 433, 438 (2003). Additionally, a review of Ms. Morton's audio statement further confirms the existence of probable cause for Appellant's arrest, as Ms. Morton expressly stated that Appellant exposed himself to her. (R. p. 83 [p. "57"], lines 18-22 and R. p. 84 [p. "61"], line 12 – [p. "62"], line 10). Thus, Appellants' argument that Defendants intentionally withheld this statement from him is completely without merit, as it does not contain any exculpatory information whatsoever. (Appellant's Initial Brief p. 5-6).

Appellant's argument that that no probable cause existed because the initial incident report created by Officer Patrick Marter indicates that the Appellant was wearing a robe at the time of the alleged exposure, whereas the actual recorded interview given by Ms. Morton indicates that

the Appellant was wearing a towel, or what room she was in is also wholly without merit. (Appellant's Initial Brief p. 2-3). As discussed above, Deputy Patrick Marter first met with Jan Morton. As she did in her recorded interview, Ms. Morton reported that the Appellant indecently exposed himself to her while she was receiving chiropractic care from the Appellant at his home. The information was then written in a supplementary report, which Officer Marter prepared. In other words, this was not a written statement provided by Ms. Morton—rather, it was Officer Marter's 10 line summary of his interview with Ms. Morton. After the initial report was filed, the case was turned over to an investigator, Stan Ashley, who personally interviewed Ms. Morton. During this interview, which was recorded, Ms. Morton provided a full account of her interaction with the Appellant. Furthermore, in its order, the Circuit Court emphasized that this issue “would not affect any reasonable officer's determination that the crime of indecent exposure had been committed.” (R. p. 8).

Similarly, Appellant's argument that no probable cause existed because members of the Anderson County Sheriff's Office changed Ms. Neal's story to fit the crime of indecent exposure is without merit. (Appellant's Initial Brief p. 4). As mentioned previously, the incident report clearly alleged that Appellant exposed his genitalia to Ms. Neal. Again, this information was then written in a supplementary report, which investigator Stan Ashley prepared. Again, these statements were not provided by Ms. Neal—rather, it was investigator Ashley's summary of his interview with Ms. Neal.

Moreover, and most importantly, the key factors leading to Defendant's good faith belief that a crime had been committed were Ms. Morton's and Ms. Neal's statements that the Appellant exposed himself to them. Whether Appellant was wearing a robe or a towel (Morton report), or which room Appellant was in when he exposed himself (Neal report), would not affect any

reasonable officer's determination that the crime of indecent exposure had been committed. Indeed, such a fact is wholly immaterial to the basis of the underlying charge. *See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986) (holding that a fact is material if proof of its existence or non-existence would affect disposition of the case under applicable law). Thus, even if Ms. Morton or Ms. Neal made conflicting statements about what the Appellant was wearing immediately prior to him exposing himself, or what room he was in when he exposed himself (which they did not), the alleged omission of this fact would not support a claim for malicious prosecution or false arrest/imprisonment. Were it otherwise, an officer would be charged with delving into the minutiae of every criminal charge before he or she could be comfortable in drafting an affidavit in support of an arrest warrant.

Thus, for the reasons set forth above, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in finding that probable cause existed for Appellant's arrest.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED RESPONDENT SHERIFF JOHN SKIPPER'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO APPELLANT'S CLAIMS FOR ABUSE OF PROCESS AS NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXIST AS TO WHETHER THERE WAS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT PROBABLE CAUSE FOR APPELLANT'S ARREST AND RESPONDENT'S CONDUCT DID NOT AMOUNT TO AN ABUSE OF PROCESS.

The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion by finding that the Respondent's conduct did not amount to an abuse of process as legally sufficient probable cause existed for Appellant's arrest and Respondent's conduct did not amount to an abuse of process.

In South Carolina, "[t]he tort of abuse of process consists of two elements: an ulterior purpose, and a willful act in the use of the process that is not proper in the regular conduct of the proceeding." *McBride*, 389 S.C. at 564.

Indeed, the essence of the tort of abuse of process centers on events occurring outside of the process, namely: The improper purpose usually takes the form of coercion to obtain a collateral advantage, not properly involved in the proceeding

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